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68th POLICE .PRECINCT S”ATION HOUSE AND STABLE, 4302 Fourth Avenuec, Varoug' of
BrookI¥yn. Buidt 1886; architect Emile M. Cruwe.

Landmark Site: Borough of Brooklyn 1ax Map Block 728 Lot 36.
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On Mardh”ll 1980, the Landmarks Preservation Commission neld a puhlic hearing
on the proposed desifilation as a Landmark of the 68th Police Precinct Station House

.and Stable arid- the proposed designation of the.related Landmark Site (Ilrem Xo.

11).

The hearing was ccgklnued toMay 13, 1980 (Item No. 2). Both hearingzs had been

&) - . 3
duly advertised~in accordance with the provisions of law. A tota] of six witn
spoke in favoc of de51gnatlon‘ There was one speaker in oppositicn to designa
Letters have been received supporting désignation.
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DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

D

The former 68th Police Precinct Station House and Stable, & handsome and

esses
tion.

imposing civic emsemble within the Sunset Park section of Brooklvn, are prominenclvy

located at the southwest corner of Fourth Avenue and 43rd Street. Thesc buildings,
designed in the Romanesque Revival style by Emile M., Gruwe and built in 1886. zre
a significant example of Brooklyn police station design and are amone the few sur-
viving structures of their type.

Development of the section of Brooklyn known as Sunset Park dates “rom the
second half of the 19th centurvy. TFollowing the Civil War the Brooxlwn waterirant
vas slowly developed as an industrial manufacturing base which attracred middle and
working class residents to the area, while a ferrv service to New York was estab-
lished at Second Avenue and 38th Street to serve the expanding communitv. n an
effort to meet the needs of the residents for recreational space, tnc City af Brooklv:
planned Sunset Park in 1890 on eighteen acres of land in the heart of the arca.

The establishment of Bush Terminal during this period reinforced i communizy's
growth.

Since the earliest settlement of the Town of 3roeklvn tnere aad naen a nurher

of difrerent law enforcement bodies. XNot until the 19th centurviwiti: a

g o

increasing population, was & regular police organlzation e led. e

Department for the Cirv of Brooklvn" was established in 1830: this was rmerace. sever
vears later into the Metruvpolitan Board of Police, whicn operared ouvc :f 200 Malter
Street in Manhattsan. In time the Metropolitan svstem was “ound Lo be curborsome.,

and it was felt to infringe uponr the authoricv of local municiralitiec=s. Thos
1870, both the State of New York and tnhe Citv of Brooklvn nassed th
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modified under the charter of 1873 to become the Dipxtwenf of Policce and
As a consequence of its growing population, Brooklvn expanded its poiice
meet local needs and opened new precincts and sub-precinct police stations.
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to formulate and establish a Bcard of Police of the Clt‘ ol Breexlyn, vhich v ozs
e
1

1orce

i
acts
IN

L -

to

e

Eighth Sub-Precinct was formed to cover the area west and south of (reenwood Cene-

tery, west of Seventh Avenue, an area which approximates che present Sunset Pa
community. In 1885 the Eighth Sub-Precinct became the 18tn Precinct under the
command of Captain James Kennev. Previously housed in a makeshift station irn
tenement building on Third Avenue and 36th Street, the 18th Precirct moved In
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vear to the new Police Precinct Station House at Fourth Avenue and 43rd Streer.

In 1898 when Broocklyn was consolidated into Greater New York Citw, the 3rooklv
Department of Police and Excise was mergesd with the seventeen police svstems
other boroughs into one unified New York CltV Police Department. AT tahat tire
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various precincts were renumbered and the 18th became the #43rd Precinct. In 1913
cthe 43rd became the 143rd, which three vears later became the 76th and subsecuently
changzed in 1924 ro rhe >2no Precinet. Tive vears later the precinct became known
as the A3th Precince. .

“he 68th Police Precinct Station House with adﬂoining stable are handsome
poweriullv massed Romanesque Revival buildings. Elements of the Venetian and
Noerman Pemanesque stvles, both derived from Byzantine precedents, are combined
to produce a skillfully balanced and unified composition. The doriinating corner
tower and massive round-arched forms are characteristic of the st¥le'#nd combine
Lo ¢create a powerful image of the presence and authorlty of the DOllLe department
in the cormunity. ‘ .

Several Romanesque Revival police precinct station houses were desiomed and
erected in the late 19th century chrouchout the Citv ‘¢f Brooklvn, most notably d1e83ra
Police Precinct Stacrion House, which is a designated New York City Landmark ol
1894-~9> bv William B. Tubsv in the Bushwick Section, Todav feu of Brooklvn
i8th-century nolice staction houses survive. Architecc Emile . Sruwve was commis—
sioned to design not only the 68th Police.Precinct Station House in.Sunset Park
but alsc the almost Ldentical 75th Police Precinct Station House, still standing
in somewhat altered form at 484 Liberty Avenue in the East XNew York section,
Little is known of Gruwe or his career. He began his New York architectural prac-
tlice in 1578, maintalning offices,in Manhattan until 1891, when he changed the
speliing of his name to Emile Crewey and joined in partnership with Robert W.
Tirth in Brooklivn. The partnership lasted until 1894, and in 1897 Grewey azain
established offices in Manhattan. An architects' directorv of 1899 lists twe of
his works, the Belvedere and the FTlorence apartment hotels .t

The three-storv dbrick 68th Police Precinet Station House is dominated bv a
oroiecting ¢orner which is surmounted bv 2 stepped corbeled cornice set above
a series of arches which rest on carved foliate impost blocks. Elezant curvilinear
wought-iren rie-washers accent this upper tower composition, while two stories bhe-
low is an intricatelv carved limestone Bvzantine stvle bandccurse feazuring dog
faces and feliate carvings. Arched openings with brick voussoirs are sel at each
level nf the tower. Along the Fourth Avenue elevation is an impressive, orman-
inspiree prolecting main entrance portico, 1t is composed of a nair of arches
with rusticated voussoirs and drip moldings, resting upon a truncated column of
polished granite, with a corbel table ahove fearuring whimsical figure heads.
Flanking the portico to the left is an extension with a window arcade surmounted
bv a pressed brick cornice setting off a sloping roof. Above this extension is a
proiecting pavilion which contains a pair of round-arched windows unified througn
the use of a bezant molding and a continuous brownstone drip molding accented by a
curvilinear wrought-iron tie-washer at the second floor level. To the rieht a
naired set of arched windows with decorative carved foliate medallion above arc
contained within a round arch and a brownstone drip molding. At the third rlocr
of the projecting pavilion an interlaced c¢olonnade of Venetian inspiration is ser
beneatn z diapered panel. This colonnade composition is replicated on the souti

elevatiorn. "o the right of the projecting pavilion at the third floer is a singic
arched - ‘ow with a brownstone lintel of the Norman style. Above is a bezant
molding irse which sets off a corbeled cornice of molded brick which extends

around the building interrupted only by the cornertower, and supports a parapet
which 1is punctuated bv bartizan towers capped bv pinnacles with finials., The 43rd
Streer facade is simpler, with brick-enframed round-arched window openings. “his
facade is accented by two double-height window bay groups, one with decorative



diaperwork and a stained-glass rondelle panel and the cther with a small recessed
balecony, and smaller curvilinear wroucht-iron tie-washers. The west and south
elevations of brick are punctuated bv arched window openings.

The stable building which faces Fourth Avenue is connected to the station
house bv a one-story brick passage. A small paved areaway 1 in front of thé™
passage. This connecting section features a zig-zag molding at the cornice above
small arched openings and three band courses which continue around. the stable
building at base level. The stable has a rectangular entrance at the first flocr.’
The second floor, delineated by two stone bandcourses, features a palr-ef central
hayloft doors flanked on either side by a round-arched window: These three round—“ﬁﬁWJ}_
arched openings are unified by a continuous brownstone molding with decorative S

-

terminating hosses. The cornice makes use of molded brick and has diminutive”

crenellation, punctuated at the center by a rectangular pediméhtﬁ The south wall.. e

cf the stable adjoins other buildings, while the north wall is pierced by round- JlﬁflﬁﬁJw
arched openings. to
The 58th Police Precinct remained in the station house until 1970. “At that \ ~

time a new station house was opened im Sunset Park, and the 68th joined with another
precinct to form a new expanded police precinct. The building has been vacant since
the mid-1970s. A fire in 1980 did some internal damage, but the building remains

sound. Local comnunity groups are seeking a solution for the reuse of the building.

The 68th Police Precinct Station House and Stable remain striking examples of
late 19th-century civic architecture &and rare survivors of their tvpe in Brooklvn.
Their Romanesque Revival design reveals the skill of architect Emile M. -Gruwe and
creates a powerful image of the role the police department in the communitv.

FOOTWOTE

1. Dennis M. Francis, Architects in Practice New York Ciry, 1840-1900. New York:
Committee for the Preservation of Architectural Records, 1980), pp. 35, 33, 89.
Gruwe may have also been responsible for the handsome neo-Grec cast-iron
building at 444 and 452 Broadwayv, built in 1876-77. Buildings Department
records list the architect as Schweitzer & Gruwe (transcribed in LPC records
as '"'"Greve'.)
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